
Edington in Pictures – 11

World War Two
1939-1945

1939-1945 Star, Burma Star 1941-1945,
Defence Medal 1939-1945 and the War Medal 1939-1945

Notes:
[1] In this section the scope has been expanded somewhat in or der to touch upon events,
very much relevant to our everyday lives at the time, at nearb y military installations such as
Keevil Aerodrome and the US Military Hospital at Erlestoke P ark.
[2] In parts of this compilation World War Two is referred to a s WW2.
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Army manoeuvres with a Crossley Field Artillery Tra ctor on Salisbury Plain in 1928.

Following the tragic loss of so many local young men in the Great War, the close
proximity of Salisbury Plain with its vast military training areas, ensured that the sights
and sounds of military activity continued to be seen and heard in the area throughout the
1920s and 1930s.

Gunfire would often be heard from the Plain and from time-to-time motorcycle outriders
would herald the arrival of a chalk-streaked convoy of tanks or bren gun carriers which
would come roaring, rumbling and squeaking along the Top Road. Unsuited to the narrow
roads, and probably with inexperienced drivers, they tended to career about all over the

No 5 Long Hollow at Tinhead in September 1933.  Wat er bottles and dixies 
being filled from the well for troops camped in the  Combe.  

Left to Right:  Florrie Bathard; n/k; Jean Marks; n/k; Jack Drewett ; n/k; n/k; 
Frank ‘Spider’ Nicholas; Stan Nicholas; Ruby Bathar d; and Doreen Bathard.

roads, and probably with inexperienced drivers, they tended to career about all over the
place and on more than one occasion one of them would fail to negotiate a bend and finish
up embedded in a bank or a building – the smithy at Tinhead being one such building.
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The late 1930s saw a gradual build up of military activity in the area and it was no great
surprise when, on 3rd September 1939, the Prime Minister, Neville Chamberlin, as a result
of their invasion of Poland, declared war on Germany. Straight away cinemas were
closed, the ‘blackout’ came into effect and rationing began. Two million men between the
ages of 19 and 27 were called up – the only men exempted locally being farmers and key
railway workers – and 3.5 million children were evacuated from the large towns and cities.

A local photograph from Alan Andrew’s collection.  Thought by some to be the Home 
Guard, but more likely to be the Rood Ashton Troop of the Royal Wiltshire Yeomanry [TA].

Food rationing required each family to be registered with a
grocer. In most cases locally this was Tommy Brown at the
City. In 1940 each person’s weekly entitlement consisted of
4oz [113g] bacon; 4oz butter; 6oz [170g] margarine and fats;
12oz [340g] sugar; 2oz [56g] tea; 2oz preserves; 1oz [28g]
cheese; 2oz sweets and 1s/10d [9p] worth of meat. This
would be supplemented by foodstuff available locally such as
rabbits which were plentiful and inexpensive, and home-
grown vegetables. Most families had a chicken only at
Christmas. It was possible, however, for villagers visiting
Trowbridge to obtain a meal ‘off the ration’ at the British
Restaurant in the park. British Restaurant being rather a
grand name for what was in fact a cafeteria in a couple of
Nissen Huts, provided by the Ministry of Food and manned by
volunteers, to enable members of the public to purchase an
inexpensive meal without having to use their ration books. A
typical 3-course lunch followed by tea or coffee would cost
11d [about 5p].

The author’s [adult] 
ration book – issued 

on completion of 
National Service in 

1954. 
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A Government poster of 1940 when Britain stood alon e and enemy troops 
were massing in France for an invasion of England, which illustrates just how 

close we came to being overrun by the Germans.
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Evacuees began to arrive locally in large numbers, the first being young mothers with their
children from the East End of London whose husbands were in the armed forces. The
contrasting cultures were not really compatible and it must have been a relief to both when
within a few months - the period of the ‘phoney war’ when very little happened - most of
them had returned to London. Among the next evacuees to arrive in Edington and
Coulston were boys from an orphanage - the ‘ome’ as they called it - at Tonbridge in Kent.
They were made welcome, given good homes, attended the local schools, and stayed for
the ‘duration’ [of the war].

Military camps and installations sprung up all over the place, the most significant locally
being Keevil Aerodrome, a Class A bomber drome with three runways, 400 buildings and
accommodation for 2,554 personnel. Although known officially as Keevil Aerodrome, the
main entrance at Elmsgate House, the accommodation areas and radio station, were in
fact off the Edington Road at Steeple Ashton.

�
Among the locals who worked on 

constructing the aerodrome were gangs of 
women labourers who worked on the 

runways.  Here, second  in the  wages queue, 
is Lady Seymour from Luccombe Mill.

�
Convoys of Bren Gun Carriers would 
come lurching through the village. 

Associated with the aerodrome was a British Army camp located at Housecroft Farm from
where red-bereted paratroops and glider-borne infantry undertook invasion training for
eventual assaults on North Africa and Europe.

An early arrival in 1942 was the four-squadron 62nd Troop Carrier Group of the US Army Air
Force flying C-47s and C-53s, engaged principally in transporting military freight and
training with British paratroops for the invasion of North Africa. The next to arrive was the
153rd Observation Squadron flying Douglas Bostons and Douglas A-20 Havocs engaged on
target towing and training duties, later converted to carry combat cameras for
reconnaissance sorties over the French coast.

From 1943 and throughout the rest of the war the aerodrome was also used for the final
assembly of Spitfires manufactured at Bradley Road, Trowbridge, at a factory known locally
as the 'Spitfire’. Each aircraft would be given at least ten test flights to check on its handling,
instrumentation and performance, and when passed for service would be delivered to the
RAF by pilots of the Air Transport Auxiliary, many of whom were females. 11-5



When this facility finally closed in 1948, a total of 600 Spitfires had been assembled,
tested and delivered around the world, eight of which are known still to be in existence.

Spitfires manufactured at Trowbridge outside the Fl ight Test hanger at 
the aerodrome.the aerodrome.

Legend has it that when the Americans were at the aerodrome some local farmers
supplied fresh eggs to the Officer’s Mess in exchange for bottles of scotch - a rare
commodity at the time. Whether other commodities also changed hands is not recorded
but the ‘black market’ was rife and it is rumoured that toolboxes containing complete sets
of spanking new American made engineering tools did appear in some farm workshops.

Another story concerns an American serviceman who presumably, like many servicemen
before and since and usually involving a young lady, had found himself a long way from
his base with no transport and set out to walk across the fields in the general direction of
the aerodrome. Early next morning Forbes Johnson at Stokes Marsh Farm found the
young man asleep in his porch. He was given a good breakfast and sent on his way. His
fate from thereon is not known; presumably he made it back to his base, and it is hoped
that he eventually made it back home to the States to relate to his folks his experience of
Wiltshire early morning hospitality.

Forbes Johnson, who was a Sergeant in the Home Guard, also features in another albeit
apocryphal anecdote from that era. He would use his car, a Crossley with an external fuel
tank at the rear to take members of his platoon to the aerodrome on a Sunday morning for
firing practice on the rifle range. His car was known to most of the sentries at the gate
who would simply wave him through. On one occasion, however, he gave the sentry a
friendly wave and the inevitable happened; the sentry did not recognise him and opened
fire at the back of the car. The bullets punctured the fuel tank and the car, having
discharged its fuel onto the road, quickly came to a standstill. What happened next is not
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recorded, but should the story be true, it can be assumed that Sergeant Johnson conformed
to the correct procedure and stopped his car at the entrance on all subsequent occasions.

With the departure of the USAAF in March 1944, the RAF returned with 196 and 299
Squadrons flying Stirling Mk1V glider tugs, crewed by men of the RAF, RAAF, RNZAF and
SAAF. They were tasked with making regular supply drops to the SOE and French
Resistance fighters in occupied Europe, and carrying out intensive training for an airborne
invasion of Europe. Their Horsa gliders were flown by pilots of the Army Glider Pilot
Regiment.

Another large military establishment nearby was a hutted US Military Hospital at Erlestoke
Park where, after D Day, casualties were flown in from Europe to the airstrip at New
Zealand Farm Camp on the Plain above the village. Only the guardhouse at the gate
remains.

Wellhead Pond 60 years on.  Far more tranquil now t han it was then when it 
echoed with the sounds of people shouting, laughing  and bombing into the water. 

As children we would play in Erlestoke woods where our favourite spot was Wellhead
Pond adjacent to the American hospital. The pond had a wooden jetty and a platform in a
tree from which we could jump and dive into the water. Off duty GIs, nurses and
convalescing patients would come there to swim. They were a gregarious bunch and we
enjoyed their company; not to mention the candy, gum and cigarettes. Nearby was a
derelict building originally part of the estate known as Swiss Cottage, with the names of
numerous servicemen scrawled on the walls. The names included too many bandleaders
and film stars to be credible even to us impressionable youngsters.

Also nearby was a dump where the Americans disposed of all manner of unwanted and, to
us, interesting items, some of which were cans of food or fruit juice which had suffered
nothing more than a few dents during transit. We scavenged the dump and took our booty
home with us where our mothers were not quite as enthusiastic about our finds as we had
been.
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As the war progressed and the build-up to an invasion of Europe began, military activity
became intensive. Convoys of British and American troops would often block the local lanes,
gliders would crash-land in local fields, and the American troops training with live ammunition
managed to devastate the pretty little village of Imber which was never to be inhabited again
and was gradually virtually obliterated.

Fortunately evidence of enemy action was seen locally hardly at all. An exception occurred
one September Sunday evening in 1940 when a German Junkers 88, badly shot up, crashed
near Imber. Dozens of people from Edington, including us children, walked across the downs
to see it. One of the crew had been killed and another injured. The only other enemy action
locally was the dropping in April 1941 of ten bombs on New Zealand Farm Camp by a
German HE 111. Only one of the bombs hit the airstrip and there were no casualties.

Air raid precautions for the villagers, apart from the blackout and the issue of gasmasks,
consisted of the entire school at Tinhead trooping down to the George Inn, sitting on wooden
forms in the cellar for a while, and then trooping back again - a welcome break from routine
for us children. Gas masks were ugly snout-nosed things that distorted the voice and
produced rude noises when the wearer exhaled through the clammy rubber face piece. We
were supposed to carry them everywhere in a cardboard box slung from the neck on a piece
of string. We took them to school for a while, but I cannot recall taking them anywhere else.

The highlight of the week for many locals throughout the war was a village dance. These
were attended by persons of all ages, with a sprinkling of grannies and young children, and
occasionally by servicemen from nearby camps. Music was provided mostly by 78rpm
gramophone records - Victor Sylvester for the ‘modern’, ballroom dances, and Sidney
Thomson for the ‘old time’. The author recalls being taught to dance the waltz at the age ofThomson for the ‘old time’. The author recalls being taught to dance the waltz at the age of
about nine by his mother in Coulston Village Hall. Two ‘novelty dances’ also popular at the
time were the ‘hokey-kokey’ and the ‘palais glide’, when almost everyone rushed onto the
floor to join in the fun. Similar events took place in pub clubrooms and at village halls in most
of the surrounding villages. With no transport available people would either walk or cycle
from village to village to attend these events.

A few American servicemen would sometimes find their way to dances in the remotest
villages where they would create a great deal of interest with their easy going ways and their
generosity with the afore mentioned cigarettes chewing gum and candy - particularly among
us youngsters. We were fascinated too by the ‘jitterbug’ - a dance which quickly caught on
with some of the more agile young ladies. What else they would learn from these fast-talking
Yanks is probably best left to the imagination, except to say that they were a ready source of
nylon stockings which were virtually unavailable in the UK but readily obtainable by them
from the PX.

At 2 pm on 2nd June 1944 a ban was imposed on all movement of personnel into and out of
Keevil Aerodrome on pain of being shot. On the evening of the 3rd the wings and fuselages
of all aircraft were painted with black and white stripes to identify them as being allied aircraft.

From 5th June onwards, Keevil’s two squadrons of Stirlings played a major role in the
Normandy Landings, known as ‘Operation Overlord’, dropping 806 paratroops of the 6th

Airborne Division near Caen, and delivering men of the 2nd Battalion Ox. & Bucks Light
Infantry in 36 Horsa gliders to reinforce the beachhead. On 17th September they were again
heavily involved, this time in ‘Operation Market Garden’, when a further 48 gliders delivered
the British element of the multi-national force tasked with securing the bridges over the lower
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NAAFI Girls and RAF personnel at the aerodrome.  Ge rtie Cristall, formerly Bathard, 
[centre] worked there throughout the war, first as a labourer on the runways, then as 

a cook for the American Red Cross and finally as a cook for the NAAFI.

Rhine. This was followed immediately by numerous missions to re-supply the troops on the
ground. RAF and army casualties were heavy and overall about 25 aircraft from Keevil were
lost. Later, for their magnificent efforts in supplying the French Resistance with arms and
ammunition, the crews of 196 and 299 Squadrons RAF were awarded the Croix de Guerre by
the Free French Government.

In 1944 Keevil became a Heavy Glider Conversion Unit, and the following year an Operational
Training Unit renamed the Advanced Flying School.

After the war, Keevil, now known as an airfield rather than an aerodrome, was kept in reserve
status by the US Air Force until 1965, since when it has been retained by the MOD for military
training purposes.

As the war progressed the Edington Area became host to prisoners of war; at first they were
Italians - known to us as ‘Eyeties’ - and later Germans, ‘Jerries’. One POW camp was on the
Ham at Westbury from where prisoners and their guards would be delivered by lorry to local
farms for work in the fields. They wore brown battledress with large yellow patches. Towards
the end of hostilities in Europe, some of the prisoners would live at the farms in converted
outbuildings. Forbes Johnson had two in what was known as the old kitchen on his farm at
Stokes Marsh..
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An RAF Stirling crew and Army glider pilots in fron t of a Horsa glider at Keevil.An RAF Stirling crew and Army glider pilots in fron t of a Horsa glider at Keevil.

Stirlings at Keevil lined up for takeoff.
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King George V1 visiting the aerodrome photographed with 299 Squadron in front 
of a Stirling aircraft.

‘Operation Market Garden’ by David Elwood.  A Stirl ing towing a Horsa glider takes off from 
Keevil on the ill-fated mission to secure and hold the bridge at Arnhem [A Bridge too Far!].

The NAAFI building near the Edington Road, once buzzi ng with life, laughter and sing-
songs - now strangely quiet and deserted but still st anding 60 years on.
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Two unknown American servicemen 
from Erlestoke.  From 1942 when 

America entered the war there was a 
US Military Hospital at Erlestoke Park 
with the purpose of providing medical 

support for the invasion of Europe.
Casualties were flown in to an airstrip 

at New Zealand Farm Camp on the 
Plain above the village The old 

guardhouse at the gate to the hospital
[later a British Army camp] is all that 
remains.  When off duty some of the 
GIs would wander round the villages, 

perhaps hoping for some female 
company, and would occasionally, in 
spite of food rationing, be invited into 

local homes for tea

Two unknown American servicemen 
from Erlestoke.  From 1942 when 

America entered the war there was a 
US Military Hospital at Erlestoke Park 
with the purpose of providing medical 

support for the invasion of Europe.
Casualties were flown in to an airstrip 

at New Zealand Farm Camp on the 
Plain above the village The old 

guardhouse at the gate to the hospital
[later a British Army camp] is all that 
remains.  When off duty some of the 
GIs would wander round the villages, 

perhaps hoping for some female 
company, and would occasionally, in 
spite of food rationing, be invited into 

local homes for tea

Gwen Bodman, latterly 
Burbidge, who served in the 

Women’s Land Army.

Otto Shaefer, a German prisoner of 
war, who worked at Stokes Marsh 
Farm.  He stayed on after the war 

and married Rene Sadd. 
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Bombardier Sam Crutchley, 33 rd

Field Reg. Royal Artillery, killed in 
action 31.10.1942.

L/ Cpl. Walter, known as Henry 
Blagden, 7 th Ox. & Bucks. Light 
Infantry, killed in action at Anzio 

16.02.1944 aged 21.

Herbert , known as Bert Oram, 1 st Batt. 
Lincolnshire Regiment, killed in action 

in Burma on 16.02.1944 aged 32.

LAC Stuart, known as George Mullens 
RAFVR died in a Japanese Prisoner of 

War camp in Indonesia 04.10.1943.
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CPO Alec Mullens RN.Frank Osmond, the Wiltshire Regiment, 
killed in action at Caen c. 09.07.1944.

Viv Reed 
Royal Wiltshire Yeomanry.

Doug Reed Royal Army Service Corps.
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Cpl. Josie Mullens WAAF.Ron Mullens RAF .

L/Cpl. Ken Colderick 
Royal Engineers.

CPO. Ruby Bathard WRNS
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Alf Bathard 
Royal Army Service Corps.

Wilf Osmond 
the Queen’s Regiment

Bill Kerr with his daughter, Bridget, 
c. 1940.

Sgt. Charles Oram, seen here with his 
daughter, Thelma, served seven years with 

the colours before the war.  He was 
recalled at the outbreak of hostilities and 
served with the Railway Battalion of the 

Royal Engineers in North Africa ,for which 
he received a Mention in Dispatches,Sicily 

and Italy.  
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Other local servicemen known to have died in the Se cond World War.

Cecil  [Ernest] Burrett  
Ranulf Carew-Hunt

Frank Downing
Eric Nicholas

Maurice Putt
Phillip Tilley

Ernest Warren

Stanley Brown

Sidney Berrett

Donald Burbidge

Eric [Joe] Burbidge

Penelope Carew-Hunt

Frank Carr

Ronald Clarke

Henry Cornish

Sidney Corp

Dermot Dixey

Albert Dixon

Arthur Hazlerig

Douglas Masling

Leslie Merrit

Reuben Mullens

Henry Mullens

Edward Nicholas

Frank Nicholas

Stanley Nicholas

Alfred Nutland

Francis Oram

Reginald OramAlbert Dixon

Bert Dixon [POW]

Frank Downing

John Dixon

Ron Dixon

Vic Dixon

Henry Drewett

Eric Earley

Bert Grist [POW]

Raymond Grist

Ronald Grist

Margery Hale

Reginald Oram

David Orchard

Doris Parker

Ronald Shaw

William Warren

Bill White

Reg Weeks

Cyril Wheeler

William Wheeler

Beatrice Woodward

Ronald Wyatt

POW = Prisoner of War

Other villagers known to have served in the Second World War.
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Coulston Welcome Home Party for servicemen [named] after World War 2.
For other identified persons present see next page.

The author recalls that the Welcome Home sign was m ade with coloured bottle tops from the Bell Inn.
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Coulston Welcome Home Party for servicemen [named] after World War 2.
For other identified persons present see next page.

The author recalls that the Welcome Home sign was m ade with coloured bottle tops from the Bell Inn.
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1 – Vivien Atkins
2 – Brenda Mullens
3 – Mrs Arthur Ronchetti
4 – Arthur Ronchetti
5 – Jean Radnedge
6 – Margaret Jones
9 – Doreen Miller
10 – Alan Cristall
11 – Brian Cristall
13 – Dick Hale
14 – Stan Radnedge
15 – John Radnedge
16 – Bob Radnedge
20 – Mrs Tom Smith
21 – Mrs Earley

22 – Joyce Amor
23 – Gertie Cristall
24 – Mrs [Col.] Atkins
26 – May Jones
28 – Vera Jones
34 – Margery Hale
37 – Mrs Bob Radnedge
38 – Amy Radnedge
40 – Mrs Frank Miles
42 – Rose Wheeler
43 – George Hale
45 – Ron Earley
46 – Nigel Smith
47 – Brian Smith
48 – Pete Smith

Coulston Welcome Home Party - persons identified on the previous page.

Edgar Bathard, raised at Upper Baynton Farm, moved to Westbury and became Station 
Officer in the Auxiliary Fire Service [AFS].  Durin g WW2 he spent many hours fighting 

fires caused by German bombing at Avonmouth Docks.  
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Reg Osmond
Wiltshire Regiment

Bob Harris
Royal Army Service Corps.

Alan Cristall
Royal Marines

Trevor Colderick
10th Royal Hussars

National Service continued until 1960.
Some of the local young men who served are pictured  here.
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